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L.L. IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
PENNSYLVANIA
V.
J.R.
Appellant
V.
J.A.
No. 993 WDA 2016

Appeal from the Order April 15, 2016
In the Court of Common Pleas of Mercer County
Civil Division at No(s): 2008-2899

BEFORE: GANTMAN, P.J., MOULTON, J., and STEVENS, P.J.E.”
MEMORANDUM BY MOULTON, J.: FILED DECEMBER 29, 2016

J.R. appeals, pro se, from the April 15, 2016 order of the Mercer
County Court of Common Pleas granting sole legal custody of J.R.R. (“"Child”)
to L.L. and granting partial physical custody to J.R. We affirm.

J.R. and L.L. are former domestic partners and the parents of 15-year-
old Child. The trial court set forth the lengthy procedural and factual history

of this case® in its April 15, 2016 custody order, which we adopt and

* Former Justice specially assigned to the Superior Court.

! The parties have been litigating this custody matter since 2008,
including three appeals to this Court.
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incorporate herein. See Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law & Order,
4/15/16, at 1-17 (“Trial Ct. Order”).
In this appeal, J.R. raises the following issues:

A. Did the Court err in ordering sole legal custody to
[L.L.]?

B. Did the Court err in removing [J.R.] from all access to
the minor child’s academic, social, medical, and
therapeutic support services while making it impossible
for the parties to co-parent as a family unit with no
direct structures?

C. Did the Court err in not taking into consideration the
Guardian ad litem’s recommendations as being
beneficial?

J.R.’s Br. at 7 (suggested answers omitted).?
We review a trial court’s custody order for an abuse of discretion. In
doing so,

[w]e must accept findings of the trial court that are
supported by competent evidence of record, as our role
does not include making independent  factual
determinations. In addition, with regard to issues of
credibility and weight of the evidence, we must defer to
the presiding trial judge who viewed and assessed the
witnesses first-hand. However, we are not bound by the
trial court’s deductions or inferences from its factual

2 The issues listed in J.R.’s statement of questions involved differ from
the issues presented in the summary of argument and argument sections of
her brief. In fact, J.R. does not specifically address the second and third
issues in her argument section. In any event, all three issues essentially
challenge whether the trial court properly granted L.L. sole legal custody of
Child. Even if J.R. had properly argued her second and third issues, we
would affirm on the basis of the trial court’s Pennsylvania Rule of Appellate
Procedure 1925(a) opinion, which we adopt and incorporate herein. See
Rule 1925 Opinion, 8/12/16, at 1-8.
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D.K. v. S.P.K., 102 A.3d 467, 478 (Pa.Super. 2014) (quoting J.R.M. v.

findings. Ultimately, the test is whether the trial court’s
conclusions are unreasonable as shown by the evidence of
record. We may reject the conclusions of the trial court
only if they involve an error of law, or are unreasonable in
light of the sustainable findings of the trial court.

J.E.A., 33 A.3d 647, 650 (Pa.Super. 2011)).

Section 5328(a) of the Child Custody Act delineates 17 factors that a

trial court must consider when awarding any form of custody.

Pa.C.S. § 5328(a).
its custody order and explained why the majority of the factors weighed in

favor of granting sole legal custody to L.L. See Trial Ct. Order at 19-29.°

We agree with and adopt the trial court’s reasoning.

At the conclusion of its order, the trial court further explained:

What is . . . clear to the Court from years of litigation
between the parties is that the shared legal and/or
physical custody arrangement between the parties would
be totally adverse to the well-being of this child. The
guardian ad litem clearly documented how the stress and
anxiety levels of this child increase because of the conflict
between [L.L.] and [J.R.], which the Court finds is
primarily precipitated by [J.R]. The Court also finds that
the only hope for this child to achieve growth in her
medical, mental and social condition is to have one person
solely in charge of all decisions pertaining to her well-
being. [J.R.] has already demonstrated throughout the
prior eight years that her methods and approach have not
worked and in fact have been detrimental to this child.
Thus, the Court finds that it is in the best interest of this
minor child that [L.L.] have full legal and physical custody

3

Although the trial court did not specifically discuss section
5328(a)(2.1), relating to child abuse and the involvement of child protective
services, that factor was not relevant to this case. See Trial Ct. Order at 20.

-3 -

Here, the trial court separately addressed each factor in
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of her and that the involvement of []J.R.] be kept to a
minimum because of her overpowering influence and
control of [Child], and the battles she has created over the
years, all to [Child’s] detriment.

Id. at 29. We conclude that the record supports the trial court’s decision to
award L.L. sole legal custody of Child.

Order affirmed.*

Judgment Entered.

Joseph D. Seletyn, Est
Prothonotary

Date: 12/29/2016

* In the argument section of her brief, J.R. also asserts that the trial
court failed to promptly issue its custody decision in violation of
Pennsylvania Rule of Civil Procedure 1915.4(d). However, because J.R.
failed to raise this issue in her Pennsylvania Rule of Appellate Procedure
1925(b) statement or in her statement of questions involved, it is waived.
See Commonwealth v. Lord, 719 A.2d 306, 309 (Pa. 1998) (“Any issues
not raised in a 1925(b) statement will be deemed waived.”); Pa.R.A.P.
2116(a) ("No question will be considered unless it is stated in the statement
of questions involved or is fairly suggested thereby.”).

-4 -
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER

This heavily litigated custody matter has regularly been before the Court
is the child’s

i
I

'since July of 2008. The Additional Defendant

3 biologicai father and has not been involved in the custody proceedings because he

i

!
as serving a life sentence for first degree murder. The bulk of the litigation has

been beiween the two former domestic partners in this matter, Plaintiff
s the biological mother of

and Defendant
the minor child and was granted fuil custody with supervised visitation only in

oy the initial custody Order dated February 20, 2009, Unsatisfied

| Piaintiff
_ fited an appeal to the Superior Court which was denied.

with that Order,

it




Defendant subsequently relocated to the Cincinnati, Ohic area

{without prior consent) with the minor child. After relocation hearings were held,

the Defendant/mother was ordered to return the child to Mercer County by Order

édated August 24, 2016. Defendan iso appealed that Order, and it was

' affirmed on appeal, the Court again entered an Order on July 8, 2011 for her to
ireturn the child to Mercer County by August 15, 2011, which she failed to do.

«Foliowing a contempt hearing, Defendan

was: found in wiliful contempt of

; Gourt was sentenced to six months of incarceration, with purge conditions, and a
;bench warrant was issued for her arrest on March 29, 2012.

Plaintiff | then filed a petition to modify custody to obtain primary

B

éfphysicai' custody of the minor child and after a hearing held in the absence of

géDEfendan_t' n October 2, 2012, Plaintiff

é?primary physical custody. All of these Orders were ignored so Plaintiff registered

them in Ohio and eventually obtained an Ohio Order on August 23, 2013 for the

;return of the child. Defendant as apprehended with the chiid near

§écleveiand on December 20, 2013 when poiice pinged her celi phone.

Another temporary custody Order was entered on January 8, 2014 granting

_subject to periods of

jétemp‘orary primary physical custody to Piaintiff §

supervised partiai physical custody in Defendan

i{;hildren and Youth Services agency. Defendanif

L supervised by the Mercer

é?@oqn“t began serving the

isix month contempt sentence and was released on February 21, 2014 after

;:purging_ her contempt. The Court also ordered CYS fo implement protective

f%services In Plaintiff's home on behalf of the minor child. CYS was eventually

.
i
1
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%dismissedﬁ from the case on December 15, 2014 and the supervision was then

i
il

i
i

il

|
]

'

H
H

i

‘conducted by esided with in Mercer

| with whom Defendan

%Goumy. The supervised visitations were ultimately moved and by Order dated

%March 24, 20135 the parties agreed 1o a partial physical custody schedule in the

b

ED‘efendant/motther which the paries have been primarily following while they

litigated the issue of primary physical custody.

i

Both parties filed motions to modify existing temporary Orders each seeking

ip‘rimary physical custody and they appeared at the following custody hearings. pro

i
H
i
i

|

it

se on December 1, 2015, December 9, 2015, December 30, 2015 and January 12,
%2016. Accordingly, in light of this background, the Court makes the following
éFindings of Fact in addition to prior Findings of Facts made throughout the past

eight years:

]

as guardian ad litem for the minor child, §

and 18, MS_.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. With the consent of the parties, £ LSW, was appointed

2.

lis 38 years oid, married and with two chiidren, ages 16

a licensed clinical social worker and her primary experience

13 g5 a mobiie therapist and behavioral special consultant. She has a Master's

gD'e_gree in Counseling and she has worked for approximately 15 years in

;outpatient and inpatient counseling with a focus on children.



?ém_inor child in this matter as weli as Ms

of care and school authorities pertaining o the minor child.
i

4. The Court adopts the report of Ms. which is Joint Exhibit No. 1

{with the exception of her recommendation.
S. Extensive custody litigation has been occurring regularly in this case
zgafter Plaintiff and Defendant broke off their former domestic partnership in 2007.

Fa

8. After many court battles and a lengthy initial custody trial, Defendant

was awarded full legal and physical custody with supervised visitation in

8.

months of the Superior Court's ruling without leave of court or permission from any
;other party.

9. Defendant | thwarted any and all efforts of the Court and

;?P!aintiff nd the chiid advocate appointed by the Court from the time of

i separation until she relocated to Ohio to promote and have meaningful time spent

| between Plaintiff

i

and the minor child.
10, A relocation hearing was ultimately heid and the Court denied
;éreiocation by Order dated August 24, 2010 and directed that the child be returned

‘to Mercer County.



1. Defenda promptly appealed the reiocation Order which was

ééstayed leaving the February 20, 2009 supervised visitation in place, which was fo
occur in Mercer County.

| 12. It was rare that the supervised visitations occurred after relocation
;since. the child was five hours away from Mercer County.

j 13.  Superior Court affirmed the denial of reiccation on March 28, 2011
;gdirecting_ the child to be returned by August 15, 2011 which did not occur.

was held in willful contempt and sentenced to six

;émo.n.th.s in the Mercer County -Jail with purge conditions by Order dated August 29,

12011,

15.  Defendant

it

lserved one day in jail and the next day the Court

eturned the minor chiid by

56 hours of makeup time.

16. A contempt review hearing was heid via telephone with Defendant

i on Cctober 20, 2011 and she had not fuifiled the purge conditions and had

'not returned the child to Mercer County, but was granted an exiension to

|November 21, 2011,
| 17.  Afinal contempt hearing was held on March 29, 2012 and Defendant

|| failed to appear, and the Court found she failed to fulfill the purge

géconditions. including returning the child, and the six month jail sentence was

' reinstated and a bench warrant was issued for her arrest.

18.  Plaintiff Jfiled a petition o modify the 2009 custody Order

seeking primary physical custody and a hearing was held on October 2, 2012 and

()]



and made extensive Findings of Fact, and awarded primary physical custody of

non December 31, 2012.

the minor child to Plaintiff g

i
i
i

19.  Those Findings of Fact and Conciusions of Law weighed each of the
1b custody factors, and those December 31, 2012 Findings and Conclusions of
‘Law are incorporated herein by reference.

20. The State of Ohio refused to honor the bench warrant and

éiP'ennsylvaniafs custody Orders, so Plaintift | registered the custody Order in

i

the appropriate county in Ohio which held hearings and affirmed the Order on or

avoided execution of the Order {o

about August 23, 2013, but Defendant

;retum the chiid when attempts were made by the Ohio authorities to transfer

W

i custody.

21.  Plaintiff as unable to recover from her herniated disc injuries

on her job and therefore stopped working in October of 2013 and reiies in part
upon her domestic partner of several years for support.
22.  Lakewood, Ohic police (which is located near Cieveland) located

with the minor child and contacted Plaintiff ho obtained

;physicai custody of the minor child on December 20, 2013 pursuant to the
Temporary Custody Order dated December 31, 2012.

23.  The minor child has been in the temporary primary physical custody

- of Plaintiffg nce December 20, 2013,



24.  The Temporary Custody Order aiso directed Mercer County Children

and Youth Services to provide protective services for the child in Plaintiffy
; home which they did profistly.

25.  The temporary Order also directed Plaintiff |

géestabiish medical care for the child’'s various needs and schedule medical
appointments and therapy appointments.

g 26.  CYS monitored the minor chiid’s physical and emotional needs.
%%thrOUQh regular visits from the agency’s nurse and by obtaining and reviewing
é%va_rio.us medical records.

| to have

27. The temporary Order also permitted Defendant §
supervised visits with her minor daughter by CYS until further Order of Court,

8. Defendant

jsurrendered herself to the custody of the Court on

;January- 8, 2014 at which time a hearing was held in the presence of all parties

ano CYS. and Defendant | ) was committed to the Mercer County Jail to.

serve the balance of her six month contempt sentence imposed August 29, 2011,

29. Defendant fulfilled her iast purge condition and was reieased

} from the Mercer County Jail on February 21, 2014 after serving about 44 days of a

i six month sentence.

30.  After being released from jall, Defendant{}

County and resided with her friends, £ and

and wife, at their house at Mercer, Pennsylvania which is

+loceted in the Mercer Schoal District.



31, Mr and Mrs, re in their mid—40's and have one childg

(-NhO is 12 years old and is a special needs child with a birth defect known as

iGeorge Syndrome causing various developmental delays.

E 32. They reside in a raised ranch home and Defendant§
on the bottom level of the home free of charge where she has one bedroom which
lshe shares with the minor child in this matter during her periods of partial physical
i

custody:

33. Defendant | “now each other from various

§§ftheFapy programs that their fwo daughters were invoived in several years ago.

i
i
{:
i

34.

_ employed and travels throughout the week and is out-of-

i
i

!
i
I3

1}

gétown roughly 200 nights per year and is home on weekends.

i
i
it

35, Mrsj

empioyed at the outlet malls but is home a lot.

36. Thej and Defendant land the subject minor child get

;aiong weli together and the Laits do not know Plaintiff § and are not invelved
{in custody exchanges,

37.  Defendant (I expressed no plans to live anywhere else in

jgi\flercer County in the near future -and her residence is about 23 miles from the

-
. home of Plainti

it
i

= 38. Defendant

J/gave no explanation as to why she does not
%reside cleser to Plaintiff| ke the parties did before she left the staie with the
child.

hwants fo enroll her minor daughter in the Mercer

?Schooi District if she receives primary physical custody.

i



n December

40, When the minor child began residing with Plaintiff g
of 2013, the subject minor child has been in the primary physical custody of

Defendanif@ @ @ I continuously and the Court only permitted supervised visits with

Defendant and oversight by CYS 10 assure the safety of the child because

.of her extensive medical record and Defendant@ 1 contemptuous behavior.

%g'Supervised physical custody between the child and Defendant {continued

proved to the Court that she had a Pennsylvania driver’s
;iice_n.se and had registered her vehicle in Pennsyivania, and obtained a job in
Mercer County. See Order dated December 15, 2014,

41 On December 15, 2014, after a year of oversight. Mercer County
sCYS was granted leave to withdraw from this custody case, provided; however,

that

| would be the supervisor of Ms. &
physical custody.
42, By Order dated January 30, 2015, the supetvision of pericds of

%%partia'i physical custody was lified since Defendant § obtained a

. Pennsyivania driver’s license, registered her vehicle in Pennsyivania and obtained
“empioyment in Mercer County.

43.  Defendant@ | eriods of partial physical custody as set by the

iMarch 24, 2015 Order permit het to have her daughter every other weekend on
§Saturday mornings from 10:00 a.m. through Sundays at 7:00 p.m. and every
;'Tuesday after school untit 7:00 p.m. A slightly expanded schedule was set for the
fsumm‘er of 2015 by the Order dated May 28, 2015 which reverted back to the

f!\/iarch 24, 2015 scheduling order when school reconvened in September of 2015.



44 When the subject minor child was placed in temporary physical

i

gcustody of Plainti n December of 2013, the child was enrolled in the

éSh‘aron public school sysiem where she remained until the parties agreed to put
;gher in a private school, St. Stevens, which recently opened in Sharon, Mercer
;C-ount-y. Pennsylvania and is specially designed to handie the needs of autistic
children.

45 Since residing with Plaintifff | the subject minor child no jonger

:needs an orthopedic stroiler/wheeichair, had her Gl tube removed and now feeds

;;’her_seif using silverware and eats regular food. In addition, Plaintiff {8
%ge_ncourages the child to become as independent as possible by bathing, dressing
and feeding herself.

| 48.  The subject minor child’'s medical issties have greatly improved since

;.residing primarily with Piaintiffg

L Isince December of 2013. Notably, the minor
?%C_hii'd is in good general health and is in no need of speciaiized medical treatment.
47 The minor child currently has diagnoses of anxiety disorder. autism
“spectrun: disorder, lack of coordination and other Symboiic dysfunction for which
}she has weekly occupational therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy, outpatient
mental health counseling, medication management, and family based services.
‘ 48,  The child attended the sixth grade for the 2014-2015 academic
§§S{:hooi year and made significant improvements despiie her giobal developmenial
;dela-ys- which impact her socially and lead io poor communication.

48, Nonetheless. due to the conflict between Ms.

the child's anxiety and stress ievels vastly increased as Ms. became more

10



iﬁinvoived again in her life resuiting in adverse reactions by the child: to going to
isohoo{

B80.  The child again atlended the Sharon public school for seventh grade
for the 2015-2015 school year but was missing half of the school year leading to
her placement at St. Stevens.

J‘ 51.  Beveral truancy violations were brought against the minor child and

and various hearings were held but Ms. as never found guiliy.

52..  Truancy support services were put in place.

53.  Sharon School authorities noticed that the child’s bouts of anxiety

eemed 1o correlate to when she talked with her mother or was going to have a
visitation with her.

54. Defendant§

| voiced disagreements at meetings over schooling
alternatives in the presence. of the minor child and according to the minor child, Ms.

§toid her that Sharon Schools were not right for her and she was

disappoinied that.she was not being Cyber schooied as in Cincinnati.

55. While at Sharon Schools the chiid had an IEP with learning support

jf and made improvemenis when she aftended.

56. The minor child has difficulty expressing herself, reguiating her

?ﬁemotions which lead to aggression and significant anxiety exacerbated by the

;conﬂicts between Ms B55

57. The child has difficulty resolving conflicts. making decisions and
glacks age-appropriate problem solving skills and takes many of her cues from her

: rother.

11



s, o,

58, When there is significant stress and conflict, the minor child shuts

H
i

;down on an emationai levet and resorts to 5 fight—flight or freeze response.

59,  The minor child s visibly anxious when both Ms.

2 present icgether.
8G.  The minor child feels forced to choose between the parties.

61.  The minor child is very loyal to her mother and has difficuities

;acknowledging positive interactions between herself and Ms.§
obvious evidence of their ciose bond.
62.  The subject minor child would prefer to live with her motiier.

and Ms. have different parenting styles and

as made many mistakes in parenting since the chiid has

been with her sirce December of 2013, based n part, on the substantial barriers

nd the minor child,

placed in the minor child's mind between Ms§

has obviously alienated the affections between Ms.
fand the minor child in the past eight vears and continues to try and control and/or

‘manipulate all aspects of her daughter's life and the contacts she has with Ms.

66. The minor child s artistic, inventive and creative, and loves o swim,
‘I8 very sensitive and foves animais. The truancy problems have decreased since
?he child has been at St. Stevens Schooi and she appears to like the school and

tne pecple.




87 Plainiiff has resided at Sharon. Mercer

iCounty, Pennsylvania since about 2007 and currently resides with her partner,

) who 15 45 years old and works as a traffic control speciatist
with Area Wide Protective Services Menday through Fridays from 7:00 am. to

if3:-30 0.m. and is on call on weeskends.

88 in good health and has no children.
69, boards a horse in nearby Jamestown, Pennsylvania and

“the minor chiic¢ accompanies her and has ridden the horse {once without a helmet)

jiand the minor child iikes te be at the farm.

70. has no relationship with Defenda
71 pays the household bills,
72. i overheard Defendant] dtalking cn the phone to the

f'c;:hiid sayifig that they are dirty and live in a ghettc and that soon we will not have
f%io deal with these pecpie.

'heips with some parenting and participates 1n Family

is 48 years of age and her homie is a two-
fstory house that she is buying from her brother on an Article of Agreement for
1$340.00 per month.

75 The house has three bedrooms and the minor child has her own, but

‘prefers to sleep with Plantiff (]
76 They have a double lot with a fenced in vard, an above ground

sswimming pooi, a trampoline and a clul: house for the miror child.

13



| and upset when she does

77, The minor child gets angry with Ms.

not get her own way, and Ms.{

~ (ries to give her time and space.
78,  The minor child likes to fish and ride her two-wheel bicycle and go to
;;ihe'famiiy camp in Eldorade, Pennsyivania where they hike on some weekends.

79 | suffers from spinal stenosis and a back injury and last

}

;worked at Dean Dairy in August of 2013 and has applied for SSi.
80. There have been many email and text message exchanges between

and Ms. some of which have been read by the minor child. Ms.

(| lattitude and viewpoint of Ms.

has remained constant throughout

the last eight vears as indicated by Plaintiff's Exhibiis 14, 16 and 21, for example,

“where Ms.  has calied Ms. an “f-ing cunt” and referred to Ms.

“as a “court-ordered parent” until you are no ionger designated as such, and using
' other profanities.

81. ot into a physical altercation in the child's

;prese'nce during one of their custody exchanges resuiting in each of them being
“charged with disorderly conduct.

82.  After gaining custody of the child, Ms.{ promptly obtained

Egvarious medical records and reports from doctors the child was going to in the
Cinginnati, Ohio area and she then established ail of the necessary medical and

other therapy and services for the minor child in Mercer County, Pennsylvania.

83  Plaintiff jold iocal providers that Defendan may be

f_suffering from Munchausen By Proxy Syndrome (@ condition suspécied by this

Court and others throughout this case) which caused those providers o be very

14



information that she attempted to provide about the

i skeptical of ks, |
child’s treatment history and future needs.

84, i nad a diffieult time with school and vanous providers in

~setting up @ wusting refationshig. 0 part, by information given to them by Plaintiff

80, The minor child first attended West Hili Eiementary School in Sharon

Lwnen she returned o Pennsylvama and according to the schoal principal and the

ffguidance counselar, her attendance declined dramatically after Defendanty
resumed litigation shortly after she got out of jail. See Plaintiff's Exhibit 34,

; 86.  The child became defiant and haa a negative attitude towards school

:Eéand reported that her mother (Defendanty told her this was not the right
f.p‘!ace- for her and that she should be Cyber schooled. Plaintiff's Exhibit 34. The
minor child also advised that she would be fine with atiending West Hill if her
mciher supported that school.

. 37 The mipor chiid reached important developmentai benchmarks at
West Hill Elementary in her first two months of scheol there, which she was not

able to reach in the prior 11 years. Plaintiff's Exhibit 34.
86. This child zlso demonstraied 1o the school that she “is a bright,
ceuragrous and ialented individuai.” Plaintiff's Exhibrt 34.

s extended family in Mercer County including her

i

grandparents. woe uncies, three aunts and various cousins, bui Defendai

- has no relatives iri thig area



90. Defendant

has no significant ties to Mercer County,

' Pennsyivania.

91.  Dunng the four vears that Defendanit ad the minor child in

the Cincinnati area, they resided with her domestic partne

148, at § Hamilton, Ohio. Ms.
been domestic partners for about seven vears put have not resided together for

the past two plus years when Ms: eturned te Mercer County, Pennsylvania,

. but they intend to remain partners.

92.  The minor child has a close bond with Ms.{

§3.

} is employed and works approximately 50 to 60 hours

;5 per week and is unable to travel to Mercer County very often because of her work.

94.

tries to travel to Mercer County every two to three
months.

95.  Defendant { seeks fuli legal custody of the minor child and

' does not want Plaintiff| 1 invoived ih any decision making for this minor child

and claims that she wotiid stay in Mercer County.

98, wouid remove the child from St. Stevans Schooi and put

her in the Mercer School District closer to where she now lives and wouid remove
her from outpatient mental health treatment at the Community Counseling Center
! because of prior conflicts and would instead use St. Anthony's Point and have the
child undergo frauma therapy.

897,  Defendant wouid remove the minor chiid from the Capable

Kids Treatment Programt where she receives PT, OT and speech therapy and

16



;éwouid take ner to the Sharon Hospral programs where she was earlier in her life

“or to New Castie which is in Lawrence County.

“in Pittsburgh for dental treatment so the child life would be involved and would
.continue with doctor appointments in Pitisburgh for the child's ears and
1:;g;nmecological needs.

100. While Defendant

i was in Cincinnati for four years, Plainiiff

avelled there numerous times to visit with the minor child but was refused

- access to her by Defendany

101. While in Cincinnati, Defendan ! was Court ordered {c bring the

‘Chl[d to Mercer County io see Plainti which only happened twice within the

 first six months of that four-year period.

102. The guardian. ad litem disagrees with Defendant and
E recommends that no significant changes should be made regarding treatment
providers and doctors for her education at the time of the hearing.

103 Ms. [

§ was charged and found guilty in Ohic of custodial
;mtedterence, a first degree misdemeanor, and received & 175 day suspended jail
gésentence.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Defendant/mother now seeks te resume the full physical and legai custody

Order she had after the initial custody hearing in 2606 which she appealed. She

|

17
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stlll beileves that it is not in the best interest of this minor child that Plaintiff §

ave any say whatsoever regarding the minor child’s education, medical

éand/or any other developmental areas of the child, but should be permitted to have
\visitations on <ome weekends. it sheuld be noted that the Court's intention in

f22009 was that the custedial rights of Plaintifff would be expanded after

};the Court was satisfied with some supervised visitation of her capability and

“the nitial cusiody determanation out that plan on held for a substantial period of

‘time.  in addition, Defendam i fallure during that appeal penod. and
throughoui the time of the initial custody proceeding, to make the child avaiiable
“for the supervised visits aiso thwarled the efforts of the Plaintiff to develop her

“relationshg wath the minor ohilc

imoved without

Shertly after the appeal was denied. Defendant
;fpermission i the Cincinnati, Ohio area to be with her new domestic partner. That
1;: relocation was eventually denied by the Court and the child was ordered to be
;?returned to Mercer County. It wasn't until four years iater in December of 2013,
and thousands of dollars fater for legal fees for custody actions in Pennsylvania
fg-and Ohio. that the chiid wes finally returned to Mercer County, Pennsyivania when

“the police icoated the child outside of Cleveland. White in Ohio, Ms.

suppesed to be fransporiing the child 1o Mercer County. Pennsyivania for

=
:

§§\fisitationss. out only a handful occurred, in additior, despite Ms. @
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 lcould see the child anytime if she drove to Cincinnati, each time Ms.

tnat Ms,

went to Cincinnati, the visitations never occurrad.

i
i

Furthermore, many of the extreme medicai conditions offered by Defendant

over the years to excuse the failed visitations with Ms

:maintain that the child shouid be in her care, have now been negated. While this

géminor chiid still has some developmentai delays, is autistic and needs various

I

gfleveis of treatment and a special education pragram, under the care of Ms
her medical condition has improved dramatically along with the child’s ability to
;Derform Independent tasks such as feeding. bathing, going to the bathroom,

walking and clothing herself.

There have been numerous contempt and special relief hearings in the last

i
i

%gseverai years between the parties that have not been detailed or outlined in the
géFindings of Facts that are also significant in the Court’s determination of what is in
the best interest of this minor child in this very unusual custody case. in no time
é%throughout this Couit's 13 plus year career, has it ever been necessary to actually

}senten‘ce a mother to jail. Hence, in line with the Court’s duty to evaluate each of

the 16 factors under the custody stafute. the Court makes the following

| observations:

H

{1}  Which party is more likely to encourage and permit frequent and

;continuing contact between the child and another party.

The record Is clear beyond a shadow of a doubt that Plaintiff
;Dniy party in this custody battle who is iikely fo encourage and permit frequent and

Eicom‘_inumg contact between the child and another party. While the child has. been

19



in Plantiff's pnysical cusiedy. sne nag parmitted the mother and her significant

jother to nave phene contact with the chiid on a reguiar basis even though it may

‘have beer monitored al times,  3he nas aise fofiowed the custody Orders

Csubstandaily despite the vanous problems creagted with the rancer between her

cand Ms

While Ms

has been refuctant over the past two years to allow Ms.

to travel outside of Mercer County with the child, it is based upon the

srealistic concarn that she will not return the chiid 1o Ms The histary in the
i

with every

;gpas.t eight yeats witn the substaniial non-compiiance by Ms.

‘custedy Oraer. and the efforts that it ook to have the chiid returned te¢ Mercer
|
' Caunty, justify Ms. §

reluctance to permit much travel outside of Mercer

§§Cou.nty, Accordingly. this factor is' compieiely i favor of
(2}  The present and past abuse committed by a party or member of
the pariy’s household, whether there is a continued risk of harm to the chiid

or an abused party and which parly can better provide adequate physicali

safeguards ani supervision of the chiid.

Abuse 15 not 2 major factor in this custody litigation; however. 1t hag

periodically ogcurrad and often in the presence of the minor child. The physical or

verbal entargiement between the parties has been ongoing and is likely to

[ continue to oeeur particularly when they aré in a shared legal custedy setting.

Okviously, abuse iakes many forms. The minor physical abuse that has

and Ms @ @5 infrequent and usually only occurs

occurred between Ms i

 when one or both parhes become sxtremely frusirated and/or angry.

i



o o

Furthermore, the attitude and mindset of Defendant s as a person
fgwho is fotaily manipulative and totally controiling of persons around her and
i

‘particularly her child's life. These traits are indicative of a form of abuse. Ms.

has defnonstrated in texis and emails and ner comments to Ms

fzthe years that she has the uimost disdain for Ms. and will do everything in

her power to limit her access 1o this child. She does that primarily by manipulating

peopie, places and events regarding her child’s fife.

The Court alsc views the exient of Ms manipulation and control

“over her minor daughter as being overreaching as well, While there are many

benefits to Ms.

i

nowledye of her child and the various treatment courses,

her approach is smothering her daughter’'s independence and growth. In this
| Court's mind, 1t is borderiine abusive.

’ {3)  The parental duties performed by each party on behalf of the

Bath parties are quite capable of performing parental duties and this factor
. is therefore even

{4y The need for stability and continuity in the child’s education,

i

! family life and community life.
|

This minor child needs stability and continuity with regard to her education,

provided that io her

i family life and community life. To an extent, Ms

except it was always solely on Ms erms and conditions. Furthermore,




il
4

ggand it doesn't matter whether a Judge, or a significant other, or a physician, or
§:the,rapis.t or educator tells her otherwise. Stated simply, it is her way or the

’ highway.

it is alsc very hkely that Ms will relocate again since her housing

%Earra‘ngements are only temporary. She plans after receiving full physical custody
to change the child’s school district, medicai providers and counselors. Obviously,

E‘this will give Ms

| & fresh start 10 ake control once again of ali aspects of
“her child’s life

i

On the other hand, Ms has lived in the same house and has had the

}gsame domestic pariner for about seven years. Furthermore, she has had very
;‘;iittie change in her life except for her injuries on her job. Moreover, she has very

%fii'ttie drama in her life, except that caused by Ms. il

Moreover, as pointed
out by the guardian, thiz child needs to be insulated from conflict, and could thrive
m a stable setting. Her need for stability is critical to reducing her stress and
;ganxiety which will lead to quicker and more compiete development of this child. In
sno'* this is a critical factor in this child’s life.

{8)  The availability of axtended family.

Ms. L

has no extended tamily in Mercer County or in the surrounding
larea. Ms. n the other hand, has grandparents. aunis and uncies and
[ cousins in this area as well as her domestic partner of seven years who is family to

(6} The child’s sibling relationships.

There are no sibling relationships in this case



’ {7}  The well-reasoned preference of the child, based on the child’s

éématurity and judgment,
. The greference of the minor child in this case is clearly that she wants to be
;%with her mother. FHowever, this position was totally predictabie and expected given
iéthe overbeanng dominance ner mother has had on every aspect of her life
szartic_ulariy with wnom she snouid live with, where she should go to school and

‘how she shouid view other peopie particutarly Ms This child’s viewpoint is

"o an extent the reflection of her mother's attitudes.
* The preference of the child is not well-reasoned. it is clear from the report
of the guardian ad litem, and from this Court's fistaning to the minor chiild, as weli
as the testimony of all the other witnesses including school personnel through
édocuments, that this minor child because of her developmiental delays is not
;capabie of maiking a well-reasoned decisicn on such complicated areas. Moreover,
E?She appears o simply repeat the position of her mother on critical issues since she
f has & strong desire 1o piease her mother.

| Thus. the preference expressed by the minor child bears little weight with

"this Court under the circumstances she was placed under for the past decade as

’weii as her developmentai delays and the alienation of her affections for Ms
{8) The attempis of a parent to turn the child against the other
;parent, except in cases of domesiic violence whnere reasonable safety
;measures are necassary to proiect the chitd from harm.

nis 18 ihe Tirst caze in this Court's 13 year career of such a blatant effort oy

i

.a parent to wm the child againsi another parent  in fact. Defendan

P
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géthrough her conduct and mindset over the last eight years has proven her promise

made to Ms. B a writing prior to the filing of any custody proceeding

§§between them, that if Ms ok ner to Court, she would “never ever sign
i‘janythin‘g- that gives you parental acknowledgment, visitation or ‘rights or
i

§respons§bilities’ . . | will fight you with all | am worth with every core of my

i‘being.” Plaintiff's Exhibit ¢ from the initial custody proceedings resuiting in the

.February 20, 2009 custody Order. Prior to that initial custody proceeding, Ms.

also promised Ms. | writing that the “second you serve me with

ianyth‘ing, is the second you will no longer get te see her or talk to her or me

géun'tii you hold an Order that says different.” /d.

tili continues to denigrate Ms

erbally tc the minor chiid

and in emails to Ms| and/or texts. For example, Ms.

7;; has told her

%%daughter that Ms s the enemy, the cour-appointed person, kidnapper, etc.

[ Ms.

daiso tells her daughter that someday they will be free from Ms

‘and she wili not have to de anything Ms.@ asks of her.

: i conciusion, this is a clear cut case of parental alienation by Ms.
i
£
‘against Mg

land this factor is weighted heavily against Ms. § The

1Ohio authorities seem to agree since she was found guilty of a misdemeanor

'offense of custodial interference.

{8) Which party is more likely te maintain a foving, stable,
4

é%consistent and nurturing relationship with the child adequate for the chiid's

H

emotional needs.

i
i1
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Ms. £ | relationship with ner daughter that the Court has come fo

i‘fieam ard appraciate over the vears 18 exfremely consistent because she fotally
fdorhinates everylhing that her chilg is inveived with. However, this domination and
:;controi is not nurturing because it s siitling the chiid's growth including basic
hun‘an functions sucn as feeding hersell. going to the bathroom herseff, bathing

‘herself, dressing herself, stc Ms. alsc stifies the development of her

‘child’'s emotional needs by making her lotaily entrenched i the desire to piease
her mother only. it aiso anpvears thay many of the medical exarninations, doctor's

| visits and treatments over the years by Ms f her minor daughter are very

questionable  Accordingly, this Couri takes the viewpoint that Ms.

}iprofe_ssecf love for her daughter is stilted, self-centered ana damaging her chiid’s

“development.

i

On the otper haind, while she has dDeern in the physical care of Ms.

Isince December of 2013, the child has no major medical preblems and, according

"o the school ang her sounselors and treafment providers, she has made

| substantiai improvernents in her fife. While with M she ncw feeds herself
fgand tses reguiar silvanvare, pathes hargelf, gete dressed on har own and goes to

‘the bsthroom op her own. and no ionger needs a Gi tube. Ciearly her

independence ‘s thriving under the imperfect parenting ot Ms.

is trying io get the minor child to become independent and to

" because Ms

teachers and various medical

g%grow- on her owr under the guidance of Ms.

providers-as opposed to the smothering. contral and manipulation by Ms.

“Therefore. this Court fings that Ms. | | is definitely more likely to maintain a




ilovmg stable, consistent and nurturing relationship with this chiid that will foster
growth in all areas of the child's life.

{(10) Which party is more likely to attend to the daily physical,
ééemoﬁonai; deveiopmental, educational and special needs of the child.

Both parties will attend to the daily needs of this child. but the question is
how they go about it

:. {11} The proximity of the residences of the parties.

The parties live 25 miles apart, When Ms.{ Wwas released from the

Mercer County Jail, she chose io live with people she knew on the other side of

Mercer County. She gave no explanation as to why she did not try to live closer to

or in the same school district. Ms. | has no prior experience with

;the Mercer School District or with any medical providets in that side of the county.

choice of temporary housing has created a short distance

Thus ivis.
E barrier between her and her child. the child's school and medical providers.
{12) Each party’s availability to care for the child or ability to make

ppropriate child-care arrangements.

Both parties are equally available to care for the child and have equal ability
to make appropnate child-care arrangements. Accordingiy, this factor has little
bearing on the ruling in this matter.
| {13} The level of confiict between the parties and the willingness and
;.abiiit_y of the parties to cooperate with one another. A party’s effort to

nrotect a child from abuse by another party is not evidence of unwillingness

or inability 1o cooperate with that party.
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i

There has been substantial confiict between Ms. @

gﬁthroughout the past eight years. Ms nas been very willing and able to

However, M fhas oniy

?fcooperate throughout the years with Ms

‘occasionaliy been willing and abie to work with Ms

ven theugh there have
iébeen times that she claims that she is willing and abie to cooperate. Her conduct,

‘however, speaks volumes as well as her continuing attitude against Ms.§

sinvolvement with her minor daughier. Given the continwng conflict between the

i

géparties which has been withessed over the years by the minor child, and the
gsigntﬁca‘nt stress and anxiety levels created on this minor child as a result, it is
égciear that the cause and effect of that conflict on the minor child is not in the child's
;best interest and must be reduced as much as possible by lmiting contact

between Ms. [

It appears ciearly to the Court that the conflict arises primarily out of the

égmanipu!ative and controliing personality of Ms.[ Therefore, this factor

:weighs neavily against Ms. since the Court finds that it is her demeanor
(and approach that precipitates conflict, which is not in the best interest of this child.
: {14} The history of drug or alcohol abuse of a party or member of a

%éparty’s nousehold.

There is no significant drug and/or alcohoi abuse history in this case. This

it

i factor is irrelevant.

{15) The mental and physical condition of a party or member of 2

‘party’s household.




Neither party currently fias any mental or physical condition, nor does any
fsnember of a parly's household. that has any significance in this custody case.
;fThe only persor with substantiai history of mentat andror physical conditions is the

iminer child herself. s fas pack 1ssues that do not appear o interfere with

}jher day-to-day functions or her ability to parent this child  Her past history of

E%anxjety appears to be in remission and is aiso not a factor in this matter,
Z%Accordir._igiy, this factor is of little relevance in this case.

{16} Any other rslevant factor

After years of taking iestimony trom the parties in this matter, it s the finding

n controlling

“of the Court that the demeanor, attitudes and conduct of Ms

_Q;and manipuiating every aspect of tihus chiid’s life and her constant interference and

eimr’t‘; ic sabotage the relationstup between the minor child and Ms.

i
{

'the Defendantinotier has caused damage that may be irreparable to her chifd.

i
i

Gueroearng relationship with her daughter is detrimental to the long-
i;term well-beirig of her child because she has not been given an opportunity to
?fgrow intc an independent individual. Furthermore, the record clearly establishes

'pareﬂting etyle {which may have been wellintended) has

that iMs.

‘actually stifleq her daughter's growth in all areas.

irs the iast two years when the child has been primarily with Ms
-child has made far more improvements in alt asperis of her iife {except the stress

“and amxiely creawd by her mother) than was made in the six vears before when

;fshe was in Ms ult custody. It is also clear that if the Court were to

continua i allow full custody i Ms. f as it did i 2009, thai the beneficial
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éére!ationshép between the child and Ms.@ wouid deteriorate; and the Court

f‘ffst'rongiy believes that the child's achievements in the past two years would be for
;éﬂot and the ¢hild would regress. it appears that the best hope for this child to
fdeve!op is unfortunaiely by limiting her contact and controi of her mother.

What is also clear to the Court from years of litigation between the parties is
;;that the shared legal and/or physical custody arrangement between the parties
égwould he totally adverse to the well-being of this child. The guardian ad fitem

Iclearly documented how the stress and anxiety levels of this child increase

which the Court finds

' because of the conflict between Ms

is primarily precipitated by Msfg I The Court also finds that the only hope for

thlS child to achieve growth in her medical, mental and social condition is io have

Lone person solely in charge of all decisions pertaining to her well-being. Ms.

H

|| has aiteady demonstrated throughout the prior eight years that her

methods and approach have not worked and in fact have been detrimentai to this

chtld Thus, the Court finds that it is in the best interest of this minor child tha

\have full legal and physical custody of her and that the involvement of Ms.

be kept 10 a minimum because of her overpowering influence and control
Jof her daughter, and the batties she has created over the years, all to her

. daughter’s detriment.

i
i

HENCE, THIS ORDER:



. IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF MERCER COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA
CIVILACTION - LAW

No. 2008-2899

{
gz 2 Hd Gl Uy 91l

nai Defendant

ORDER

' AND NOW, on this 15" day of April, 2016, (T IS HEREBY ORDERED that
Plaintiff

shali have full jegal (meaning the sole and exclusive right io
zémake all major decisions affecting the best interest of the minor child including, but

Hi

not limited to. medicai, religious and educational decisions} and physical custody

%S(me‘aning the right tc exclusive physical possessior of the minor chiid

born

subject to periods of partial physical
icusiody {meaning the right to take possession of the child for-a limited set period
l!of time} in Defendant

i
il
i
1
i

to be exercised only within the
i
‘geographical boundaries of Mercer County, Pennsyivania, as follows:
i

i

;
H
i



f 1. Every other weekend on-Saturday moraings from 10:00
a.m. through Sundays at 7:00 p.m. commencing Saturday, April 23,
2016.

g 2. shall have the right to one phone call

per day with the minor child which shaii not exceed fifieen (15)
minutes in tength, and such other communications with the child as
agreed upon by Plaintiff, |

3. ther periods of partial physical custody as
agreed fo b
4. Custody exchanges shall occur at the Shenango Valley

Mall or any other place agreed upon by the parties.

shall aiways encourage the minor child to iove and obey
Neither party shall make any derogatory remarks that can be heard or

;read by the minor child about the other party. ¢ shall not advise

; her minor daughter that she does not belong iﬁ any particular school, or that she
;‘éshouid be placed in Cyber Schooi, or receive any particular type of diagnostic tests,
%émentai heaith evaiuations and any other sort of treatment of any kind.

| Since the parties appeared pro se in this matter, the Court notes that by this

| has no legal duty or obligation to provide any information to

egarding academics. medical, dental andfor mental health

«curriculum, programs, fecommendations and/or treatments. Furthermore, this
' Order means thatf Blis not legally entitled to copies of any records

7 without the written

of any kind pertaining {o the minor child §

f?consent of | without the express consent of
ermitted ic speak with and/or atiend any parent/teacher conferences,
§§doctor appointmenis, occupational therapy sessions, physical therapy sessions,

speech therapy sessions andfer mentai health evaluations and/or treatmenis.



In the event that

period of partial physical custody

%coincides with Christmas Day and/or Easter Sunday; then that holiday supersedes

Eher period of partial physical custody. T 1S FURTHER ORDERED that

phall not be permitted to remove the child from Mercer County at any time

‘without the express written permission off

Residence and Relocation of Parties: Each party shall maintain her
éécurrent residence and in the event either party intends to change her residence,
then they shali give the other party at least thirty (30) days written notice of the
%date_of the move. and the new address and teiephone number. However, the law
ééhas special rules that are mandatory before a party can move, but these

; rules do not apply to all relocations. The rules set forth below oniy apply to

%g“re[ocations” that meet the definition in 23 Pa. C.5.A. § 5322{(a): “A change

Sm a residence of the child which significantly impairs the ability of the non-
;greloc-ating party to exercise custodial rights.” Therefore, any party who
ggintends to change the residence of a child, that significantly impairs the non-

§§reiocati'n.g party’s custody rights, must give the other party sixty (60) days
fgadvance written notice by ceriified US mail, return receipt requested and by
§f:reg_uiar US mail, of his or her intent %o reiocate an_d_' provide the foliowing in

\that notice pursuant to 23 Pa. C.S.A. § 5337:

1. The address of the intended new residence.

i 2. The mailing address, if not the same as the address of
the intended new residence.

y 3. Names and ages of the individuals in the new residence,
including individuals who intend te live in the new residence.




4.

The home telephone number of the intended new

residence, if availabie.

5
.
7.
8.

9.

The name of the new school district and schooi.
The date of the proposed relocation.

The reasons for the proposed relocation.

A proposal for a revised custody schedule.

Any other information which the party proposing the

relocation deems appropriate.

10.

A counter-affidavit as provided under 23 Pa. C.S. 5337

(d) (1) which can be used by the non-relocating party to object to the
proposed relocation and the modification of the custody order.

1.

A warning fo the non-reiocating party that if the non-

relocating party does nrot file with ihis Court an objection to the
proposed reiocation within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice,

Fmb

‘ that party shall be foreclosed from objecting to the relocation.

This Court retains jurisdiction in this matter.

BY THE COURT:

Cﬁé/:o/z«f’ﬁﬁaﬂ% (j// oK {_W N J.

Christopherf J. St.John! Judge
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RULE 1925 OPINION

This is a custody case regarding a teenage girl who was bom during a

dormestic refationship betweén éppeliant,

This is a heavily litigated custody matter that has come before this Court

off and on since July of 2008, This is also the third appeal to the Superior Court

filed by appellant following an Order of this Court. All of those appeals have been

unsuccessful.

The Superior Court is directed to the 29 pages of Findings of Fact,

' Additional Defendant, is the biological father of the subject minor child. However,

he is serving a life sentence for a murder that occurred unrelated to this matter after the child was

Conciusions of Law and the most recent custody Order dated April 15, 2016. |

conceived. He s also appellee’s nephew and was chosen by appeliant and appelies to father a

D T T Y
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Essentially, appellant is the bjological mﬁther of J.R. who was born and raised by
these two domestic partners in the first five years of the child's life. Their breakup
thereafter led to appellant's refusal to let appellee continue 1o co-parent J.R.
prompting appellee to file a custody complaint. Appeilant had promised appellee in
' an email that she would fight Her with every breath of her being against custody.
Appellant has been true to her word and has thrown many hurdles in front of
appeliee to prevent and/or frustrate her refationship with the minor child for the past
eight yéars.

Appellant was initially granted full custody with supervised visitation in
appellee by Order dated February 20, 2009. The reason for supervised visitations
was because of the alleged poor health of the minor child and the Court wanted to

make sure that appellee’s relationship with the child was rekindled and that she was

capable of handling these various medical problems. The ultimate hope of the -

Court at that time was that the rancor between the parties would subside, the

refationship between the minor child and appellee would be rekindled and appeliee

would be proven capable of caring for the chiid’s various medical and emaotional

jssues.

Unfortunately, appellant engaged in an extended course of conduct over the
~ last eight years to interfere deliberately with the custody rights of appellee. At first,
appellant hid behind a myriad of medical and emotional problems as a reason to
cancel numerous supervised visitations, Then, she relocated to the Cincinnati,
Ohio ‘area without leave of Court or permission from appellee. She left the only

home the child had known, a home that was in appellant's name, but a mortgage

was only in the appellee’s name, and appeliant refused to pay the mortgage.

2




Furthermore, appeliant left ‘Mercer County where she had established all of her
medical providers for her ¢hild including mdltiple therapists over the years and lefta
steady income stream behind without any substitute income stream in Ohio.

in the meantime, the child’s home was lost in a mortgage foreclosure action
since appellee was not aware in time of the default so that she could cure i, so
appeliant was permitted to remain in Ohio with the child until the relocation iitigation
had been concluded. While that litigation Was_ pending, appellee was again given
the right to have visitations with the child, but appellant was ordered to bring the
child to Pennsyivania for those visitations. Again, appellant had tons of excuses
none of which the Court found valid to avoid bringing the child to Merée_r County for
visitations.

Appellant was ordered to relocate the child to Mercer County by Order dated
August 24, 2010, which was upheld on appeal. Appellant ignored that Order and
subsequent Orders giving her additional time to make living arrangements back in
Mercer County, but she was obviously stalling and the Court finally held her in
contempt of Court for willfully violating its Orders and sentenced her to a six month
térm 61‘ incarceration with purge conditions and issued a warrant for her arrest on
March 29, 2012.

Appellee filed a motion to modify custody seeking primary physical custody
of the minor child and she was granted temporary primary physical custody on
October 2, 2012 pending the return of the child to Mercer County and oversight by

Mercer County CYS to make sure that the child was safe, that appellee’s home was

appropriate and that any medical providers were in place if needed for the child’s |

care. Appellee registered the 2012 Mercer County Order in Cincinnati, Ohio and
3
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Appellant's first issue in her Concise Statement of Matters Complained Of is

that the Court failed to adopt the recommendation of the guardian ad fitem of shared

legal custody. The guardian ad litem made 14 recommendations to the Court. Jt..

Ex. 1 pgs. 12-16. In paragraph 8(a) of the report, the GAL opined that J.R. would
benefit from joint legal custody for equal decisions. The GAL, however, discussed
~ inher testimony a-nd throughout her report the negative impact the conflict between
appellant and appellee caused to J.R., Moreover, the record is replete with conflict
between the parties on medical treatment, counseling, therapy and education.

Appellee had a much different view of how to address J.R.’s needs than appellant.

- The GAL seemed to support the position of appellee and could not emphasize |

enough how the parties' disputes exacerbated J.R.'s significant anxiety problems.
[t is also noteworthy that appellant is extremely. controlling and is not capable
(as demonstrated over the past eight years) of considering any viewpoint from

appellee on any issue pertaining to J.R. Simply stated, it is appellant's way or the

highway. Throughout this trial, and ot’her proceedings, appellant always attacked -

the opinions and ability of appellee to make appropriate decisions for J.R. This
position was flatly rejected by the Court and the credible evidence showed that J:R.
has made vast improvements and gained more independence over the past two
| years when in the primary physical custody of appellee. Notably, the GAL stated in
| her report that co-parenting was not a viable option in this case and that “flexibility

leaves room for conflict and baitles over power and control." /d.

Obviously, the recommeéndation of the guardian was just one piece of

evidence in the possession of the Court when welighing all of the 16 custody factors.

The Court ultimately declined to follow the recommendation of the GAL because of
5




all of the other sordid history involved in the case and the Court's ulimate
conclusicn that the best interests of J.R. were not being served over all of these
years by appellant by withholding and interfering with the custody rights of the
appellee. In addition, the Court found that appellant's conduct in controlling and
manipulating every single aspect of her child's life and constantly interfering with the
relationship between J.R. and appellee, that the ch‘ﬂd has probably suffered

ireparable damage. Moreover, the Court found that appellant's overbearing

relationship with her daughter was detrimental to the long-term wellbeing of the child

since she was preventing her child from developing the social, emotional and
physical skills necessary to be independent and to mature. See the Court's
discussion of Factor 16 on page 28 of the Conclusions of Law.

In contrast, since the child has beer with appellee for the past two years, she
has improved leaps and bounds beyond the way she was for the preceding six
years while in the custody ékc[usively of the appellant. In addition, as noted often

the past two years has

in the GAL report, the conflict caused by Ms. §

continued to exacerbate emotional problems with the child and has caused the child

- to rebel against efforts by appeilee and school authorities to improve her life. For

example, appellant would tell her daughter that when she gets her back, she will be

homeschooled and she should be homeschooled and does not have to waorry about

being mainstreamed where she was initially thriving before appeliant was granted

more extensive contact with her after her jail stint.
Thus, in considering all of the evidence the Court has heard since 2008, and
particularly the misinformation given to the Court over the years by appellant, it was

clear that her role in this child’s life was detrimental to that child and that any
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extensive involvement in decision-making processes invalving her child would lead

to conflict, which would lead to disruption in this child's development. For that

reason and many other reasons, the Court granted full physical custody to appeliee

with periods of visitation in the appeliant. That was the comer that appelfiant's

conduct over the years forced the Court and the child into. She has no one but
herself to blame and has even indicated at times throughout Court proceedings in
her weak moments that she is her own worst enemy.

The other side of appellant's argument is that it was error to prevent her
"access to academic, social, medical and therapeutic support services for the child”
so that she can leam 1o co-parent with appeliee. The last thing this Court wanted to
do was to limit appellant's involvernent with her minor child. However, appeliant
over the years left the Court wi;h no choice once it became obvious when the child
was placed into the custody of appeliee, that the child was: thriving, growing
emotionally and socially and was becoming more independent without the constant
day-to-day, minute-to-minute control and manipulation of appellant. It also

became apparent throughout the last two years that as appellant became more

involved with her child again, even though the child was in appellee’s primary |

physical custody, the stress lével and anxiety in her child increased dramatically.
The primary source of that increased anxiety and stress was appellant.
Unfortunately, the only way to remove that problem was to narrow and limit the
involvement of appellant mother. .

There is no doubt that the child is in a better place with appellee having full
cusiody and control over all decisions of how to overcome the damage that

appellant mother unwittingly caused to the development of her minor child, J.R.'s
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only hope for the future was unfortunately to remove the source of that conflict.

Thus, it was with a heavy heart that this Court felt compelled to grant full custody to

| appeliee with visitation rights only to the appellant mother. Hence, for the
foregoing reasons and the reésons set forth in the various 1925 O_p'iﬁio’n’s, Findings
of Facts, Conclusions of LLaw and Orders issued thrcughout the history of this case
including numerous contempt proceedings against appellant mother for failure to
follow Court ordered visitations for appeliee, this Court suggests that the custody
Order entered in this matter on April 15, 2016 be _a'ffirmed.

BY THE COURT:

(Voriond

Christofbef J. St. John, Judge

Date: August 12, 2016
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